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(1)

INDIAN TRUST FUND LITIGATION 

THURSDAY, MARCH 29, 2007

U.S. SENATE, 
COMMITTEE ON INDIAN AFFAIRS, 

Washington, DC. 
The committee met, pursuant to notice, at 9:15 a.m. in room 485 

Senate Russell Office Building, Hon. Byron L. Dorgan, (chairman 
of the committee) presiding. 

Present: Senators Dorgan, Tester, and Thomas. 

STATEMENT OF HON. BYRON L. DORGAN, U.S. SENATOR FROM 
NORTH DAKOTA, CHAIRMAN, COMMITTEE ON INDIAN AFFAIRS 

The CHAIRMAN. Good morning. I want to begin now. I am going 
to make a brief opening statement, call on the secretary and others 
to testify, and we will likely have to have a recess, for which I 
apologize, but we don’t have much choice. 

Today’s hearing will focus on the Administration’s proposal to 
settle the Cobell v. Kempthorne lawsuit, settle the 108 tribal law-
suits that are now pending, eliminate land fractionation in Indian 
country, and convert the Indian Trust into an owner-managed 
trust. I say it will focus on the Administration proposal, it rec-
ommends these issues. 

We will hear initial responses to the Administration’s proposal 
from Elouise Cobell, the lead plaintiff, from mediators in the case, 
and two organizations that represent Indian tribes who have 
brought similar trust mismanagement cases against the Federal 
Government. 

Senator Thomas, I just began a statement. I indicated to them, 
it looks like we will have a minimum of three votes, and perhaps 
more, so we will be required to recess at some point. So let me fin-
ish my statement. I will call on you for any additional statement, 
then we will have the secretary begin, if that is satisfactory to you. 

Senator THOMAS. Fine. Or I can go vote and come back, or what-
ever. The vote is going on right now. 

The CHAIRMAN. Did they just start? Well, we have a minimum 
of three votes, and the second two will be 10 minute votes, I under-
stand. So it would probably be hard for us to have a continuous 
session. 

Let me finish my statement, call on you, and then we will decide 
how we proceed. 

The issues surrounding the management of the trusts have ex-
isted since the trusts were first created in 1887. At that time and 
since, the Federal Government believed that Indians were not com-
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petent to manage these trust themselves. Therefore, the Federal 
Government as trustee would do so. It turns out the Federal Gov-
ernment was not capable of managing the trust accounts over the 
last century plus. 

These management duties included the Federal Government ne-
gotiating leases for the use of lands owned by individual Indians 
and tribes; collecting revenues generated from those leases; cre-
ating trust accounts for those revenues; and depositing the moneys 
into those accounts; investing those moneys; and finally, distrib-
uting those moneys to proper beneficiaries. 

Congress delegated these trust duties to Federal agencies, and as 
the Federal courts have held several times in the Cobell case, the 
agencies have done a poor job. In 2001, the Court of Appeals noted 
the following:

The Federal Government does not know the precise number of individual Indian 
trust accounts that it is to administer and protect. The Federal Government does 
not know the proper balances for each individual Indian trust account, and the Gov-
ernment does not have sufficient records to determine the value of each individual 
Indian trust account.

In 2005, the Federal Court of Appeals affirmed that it is not dis-
puted that the Government failed to be a diligent trustee, and 
noted that in the 2 decades leading up to the Cobell lawsuit, report 
after report denounced the Government’s management of indi-
vidual Indian trust accounts. Congress should not be surprised, 
then, by the court’s conclusions. There have been numerous reports 
since 1915 to the U.S. Congress describing some of these problems 
in the management of Indian trusts. These reports have described 
horrible conditions surrounding the management of the trusts. 

I would like to show a couple of examples. I have three photo-
graphs that show the storage at Fort Berthold and Fort Totten 
Agency of these documents surrounding the trusts. You will see 
from the photographs the type of storage that exists, and why the 
court has found the conclusions they have found. 

So now we find ourselves in a very significant predicament. The 
Cobell v. Kempthorne case is in its 11th year of litigation, with no 
end in sight. The Federal courts have continued to find the Govern-
ment in breach of our fiduciary responsibilities and duties. The De-
partment of the Interior is now conducting a costly and time-con-
suming accounting of individual Indian trust accounts. 

The legality and the adequacy of this accounting will likely be 
litigated for years once it is completed. The case has resulted in nu-
merous cabinet officials being held in contempt; the BIA and other 
parts of Interior going years without access to the internet; several 
hundred millions of dollars spent so far on litigation and related 
activities. 

The case clearly, it seems to me, is a dark cloud over the trust 
relationship between the Federal Government and the Indians, and 
will continue to be until there is a reasonable solution. Mrs. Cobell 
had every right to bring the lawsuit. She was justified in doing so. 
There is no dispute about the Federal Government’s liability. The 
only remaining question is how to value the Federal Government’s 
liability. 

Currently, the Department of the Interior is doing a historical ac-
counting of the individual trust accounts. This is supposed to be in-
dicative of the value of the Government’s mismanagement of the 
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trusts. But there is a huge difference between the accounting being 
done by the Interior versus the accounting that the Federal District 
Court thought was adequate. Photograph 4, if it will be shown, 
shows some of the key differences between the Government ac-
counting approach and the approach that the Federal District 
Court believed to be legally adequate back in 2003. 

The key difference is cost. The Government’s plan would cost 
$335 million, while the District Court’s plan would cost $6 billion 
to $13 billion. Another key difference is the actual trust accounts 
that will be provided an accounting. The Government plans to pro-
vide an accounting for those accounts that were open on or after 
October 31, 1994. The District Court’s plan would have required 
the Government to do an accounting for all accounts that ever ex-
isted since 1887. 

Given the limited scope of the Government’s accounting effort, I 
worry that the results of the accounting effort will be litigated for 
years, and not produce an end that is justified. I raise these issues, 
and I wanted to make a longer opening statement because I want 
everyone to know how important the settlement of this issue is. If 
there is no settlement, this case will continue for probably more 
than a decade, in addition to the 11 years that has already elapsed. 
I would like to see a settlement of the Cobell lawsuit and an end 
to the injustice that has been dealt to individual Indians. I would 
like to see the Government’s attention focused on the other issues, 
Indian health care, education, housing for which we hold hearings 
in this committee. But it is difficult to focus on all of those issues 
when so many resources are spent on litigation, and when this li-
ability overhangs the Federal Government. 

For 4 years, Congress has considered ways to settle all or part 
of the Cobell legislation. In 2003, this committee urged the parties 
to participate in mediation. Mediators were chosen by the plaintiffs 
and the Government in early 2004, and within 6 months the medi-
ators realized that a negotiated resolution was impossible. Both 
mediators agree that only congressional action can resolve this dis-
pute. We will hear more about the mediation process today from 
John Bickerman. 

The Administration has now submitted a global settlement pro-
posal that goes far beyond the claims at issue in the Cobell lawsuit. 
Congress, who is the ultimate trustee to the Indians, must now de-
cide what role, if any, it will continue to play in trying to formu-
late-some kind of a reasonable settlement. Otherwise, I believe this 
case will languish, more breach of trust cases will be brought, the 
Department of Justice will be turned into the Department of Liabil-
ity, a whole lot of plaintiffs, many in this lawsuit, will long be dead 
before the lawsuit is ever resolved. 

My hope is that we can find through this process some construc-
tive way to address the grievances, to right the wrongs, to provide 
a just settlement. 

With that, I conclude my statement and call on Senator Thomas. 

STATEMENT OF HON. CRAIG THOMAS, U.S. SENATOR FROM 
WYOMING, VICE CHAIRMAN, COMMITTEE ON INDIAN AFFAIRS 

Senator THOMAS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I won’t do my state-
ment right now. I think we are going to have to work out how we 
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are going to make the vote. It is important to have this hearing. 
I simply want to welcome the secretary here and I look forward to 
the witnesses. 

[Prepared Statement of Vice Chairman Thomas appears in ap-
pendix.] 

The CHAIRMAN. Let me say, Senator Tester, we apparently have 
4 minutes left in this vote. So we, despite all of our best intentions, 
are going to have to go cast this vote. It appears as if there will 
be two votes following, so I think it will be a minimum 30-minute 
recess. We will be back as soon as we can. We apologize for the in-
convenience to the witnesses and to all of those who have gathered. 

Senator Tester. 

STATEMENT OF HON. JON TESTER, U.S. SENATOR FROM 
MONTANA 

Senator TESTER. First of all, I want to welcome Elouise Cobell. 
I want to welcome James Kennedy, Mayor Kennedy; and Bill Mer-
cer. I welcome you all to this committee meeting. 

I want thank you, Mr. Chairman, for holding this committee 
meeting. I found out about the Cobell situation, oh, it has been 
probably nearly 2 years ago, and I can’t agree with you more, Mr. 
Chairman. It is time to get everybody in the same room. It is time 
to find a constructive solution to this problem. It is not going to get 
better with time, and that is just my perspective. It needs to be 
fixed sooner, rather than later. 

So with that, thank you very much. 
The CHAIRMAN. The committee will stand in recess until 10 

o’clock. 
[Recess.] 
The CHAIRMAN. The hearing will come to order. 
Our profound apologies, Mr. Secretary, Mr. Bickerman and oth-

ers for the inconvenience. It turned out there were far more votes 
and they were 10 minute votes and there was simply no way to 
come back and forth. So thank you very much for your patience. 

Mr. Secretary, I know you have a full schedule, so let me recog-
nize you to begin and offer us your statement. If there are any 
questions, we will ask them and then allow you to depart. 

Mr. Secretary, thank you. 

STATEMENT OF DIRK KEMPTHORNE, SECRETARY, DEPART-
MENT OF THE INTERIOR, ACCOMPANIED BY JAMES CASON, 
ASSOCIATE DEPUTY SECRETARY 

Mr. KEMPTHORNE. Mr. Chairman, thank you very much. Thank 
you for your courtesy. I fully understand the dictates of the Senate 
schedule and votes, having lived that life for some time. 

Mr. Chairman, I appreciate both the opportunity to be here 
today, but also the opportunities that I have had to have conversa-
tions with you about this issue. It is an issue that is particularly 
important to the Department of the Interior and to Indian country. 
As our March 1, 2007 letter states:

The Administration strongly supports a comprehensive legislative package to re-
solve the issues facing us today with regard to the Indian land trusts.
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I have attached my statement, the 1 page summary of the key 
facets the Administration believes are necessary to acceptable In-
dian trust reform and settlement legislation. 

On June 13, 2003, then-Chairman Campbell and Vice Chairman 
Inouye sent a letter to tribal leaders asking for their help in attack-
ing three major tasks that would include the management of the 
Indian trusts. The three items were: No. 1, stop the continuing 
fractionation of Indian lands and focus on the core problems of In-
dian probate by swiftly enacting legal reforms to the Indian pro-
bate statute. 

No. 2, to begin an intense effort to reconsolidate the Indian land 
base by buying small parcels of fractionated land and returning 
them to tribal ownership. And number three was to explore cre-
ative, equitable and expedient ways to settle the Cobell v. Norton 
lawsuit. 

We agree that these are priorities for bringing a solution to the 
issues facing the Indian trusts today. We would ask settling tribal 
trust lawsuits as well. The Administration strongly supports a com-
prehensive legislative package designed to strengthen the partner-
ship between the Federal Government and American Indians. 

To achieve these goals, the Administration supports providing up 
to $7 billion over a 10 year period. I believe it is time for the Ad-
ministration and Congress to tackle an issue that has been raised 
by a commission, a task force, a commission for almost 100 years. 

First, the overwhelming finding of almost every task force and 
commission that has looked at Indian economic issues say that a 
viable tribal land base is essential. The Indian Reorganization Act 
of 1934 halted further allotments and extended indefinitely the 
trust status of the allotted lands not yet patented. As a result, indi-
vidual Indian allotments still held in trust have passed, through 
the generations, as increasingly smaller fractionated interests. 

Since 1934, time and again witnesses have come before this Con-
gress to detail the problems that have arisen as a result of the frac-
tionation. Specifically, as each generation inherits interests in 
these lands, more and more individuals hold interests in one parcel 
of land. Today, we have allotments of 40 and 80 acres, with more 
than 1,000 ownership interests. 

What this means for Interior is that we manage each of these in-
dividual interests. When its owner dies, we oversee the distribution 
of the owner’s interests. In 2000, then-Assistant Secretary of In-
dian Affairs Kevin Gover said that he is an account holder, having 
inherited one twenty-seventh of his grandfather’s share of land. He 
had 7 cents in his account when it opened. It had 8 cents in 2000. 
He told the interviewer he gets quarterly statements and that it 
cost the Government $435 a year to maintain his account. This is 
not a rare occurrence. In fact, we have tens of thousands of similar 
accounts. The cost of maintaining the accounts exceeds the value 
of the trust assets being managed. 

Think about what else we could be spending that money on, Mr. 
Chairman. Just as you pointed out, I totally agree with you. The 
opportunities to invest in Indian education, fighting 
methamphetamines, Indian health issues, Indian housing issues. 
The logical answer to this problem is that we must take a far more 
aggressive stance on consolidating these interests and then turn 
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over the management of these Indian lands to Indians. That is 
what the Administration is trying to accomplish. These owner-man-
aged lands would still stay in Indian ownership. They would still 
be exempt from State taxation. They would still be Indian country 
for purposes of tribal jurisdiction. With Indian owners become em-
powered to make the decisions on land use and leasing, the broad 
paternalistic roles of the Bureau of Indian Affairs [BIA] and the Of-
fice of the Special Trustee can be reduced significantly. 

We recognize that many of the parcels of individual Indian land 
are so highly fractionated that it would be unfair to convert them 
to an owner-managed status at this point. That is why our proposal 
includes an element that would provide us with the tools to consoli-
date these interests before they are converted. We propose includ-
ing in trust reform legislation both voluntary mechanisms and 
mandatory authority to consolidate highly fractionated parcels. 

In addition, our proposal includes incentives to enable individual 
Indian landowners to undertake property management sooner, 
rather than later. 

I have heard our proposal described as ‘‘termination’’ of the trust. 
Clearly, it is not. That policy was squarely repudiated in 1970 and 
replaced with the policy of self-determination. The policy that 
guides our relationship with tribes today. We have seen great 
progress in this regard. This is what NCAI President Joe Garcia 
said in January of this year in the fifth annual State of Indian Na-
tions Address:

As tribes take on major responsibilities, we find that we need to improve the way 
our tribal governments function. Today, tribes are governments with budgets and 
responsibilities comparable to State governments, and we have become more self-
sufficient than we were in the past. As I traveled the country in the past year, I 
heard from many tribal leaders about their efforts to improve the effectiveness of 
their governments. Too often tribes are saddled with federally-imposed models of 
governance that do not fit our traditions and cultures. It is time to address the bar-
riers caused by these mismatched governments.

He went to say:
Many of the Federal policies that many of the Federal policies that impact tribal 

economic development were put into place at a time when tribal governments did 
not have the capacity that we have today. These policies need to be revisited and 
tribal governments need to be given the same tools for economic development that 
exist for other governments.

I couldn’t agree with President Garcia more. Not only must we 
change our mindset about the management of individual Indian 
land, but we must change it with respect to tribal land as well. 
Frankly, I am troubled by a statutory and regulatory paradigm 
that places Interior employees in the position of second guessing 
management decisions tribal governments make regarding their 
lands. 

As a Governor of a western State, I had the opportunity to work 
closely with the Indian tribes in the State of Idaho. As those of you 
on the committee with Indian tribes in your States know, tribes 
have made great strides in the last 30 years under the policy of 
self-determination. Today, Indian tribes are full service govern-
ments, offering Indians and non-Indians alike a broad range of 
services. 

As most of you know, it was President Richard Nixon who ush-
ered in the policy of self-determination for Indian tribes and Indian 
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people. I would like to share just a couple of excerpts from his fa-
mous special message on Indian Affairs dated July 8, 1970:

We must assure the Indian that he can assume control of his own life without 
being separated involuntarily from the tribal group. And we must make it clear that 
Indians can become independent of Federal control without being cut off from Fed-
eral concern and Federal support. But most importantly, we have turned from the 
question of whether the Federal Government has a responsibility to Indians, to the 
question of how that responsibility can best be furthered. We have concluded that 
the Indians will get better programs and that public monies will be more effectively 
expended if the people who are most affected by these programs are responsible for 
operating them.

Mr. Chairman, we have an opportunity to work together to ad-
dress several significant issues that are impediments to progress in 
Indian country. We need to address the potential for years of litiga-
tion. We need to restore the economic value of individual Indian al-
lotments through land consolidation. We need to move beyond a 
century of well-meaning paternalism to recognize an Indian coun-
try capable of managing its own affairs if only we would let them. 

Mr. Chairman, I look forward to working with you, the vice 
chairman and the members of the committee, and the leadership 
in Indian country to find a solution to this. Mr. Chairman, I believe 
you have made a very telling point, and that is that if we continue 
the path of litigation, the issue will outlast virtually all of us who 
are in this room today. But if we can find a settlement, then I be-
lieve that we can finally have a path forward that many people will 
benefit from, in particular Indian country. 

Thank you very much. 
[Prepared statement of Mr. Kempthorne appears in appendix.] 
The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Secretary, thank you very much. 
Senator Thomas. 
Senator THOMAS. Thank you, and thank you for your patience. 

Voting is something that interrupts our lives around here. 
Mr. Secretary, what is the status of the court order that was esti-

mated to cost $6 billion to $13 billion? 
Mr. KEMPTHORNE. Mr. Vice Chairman, the status of that is that 

to date we have spent $250 million on this historical accounting 
practice. We anticipate that for the foreseeable future, some $56 
million per year would allocated so that we would continue this ef-
fort. I would point out, too, if I may, Mr. Chairman with your in-
dulgence, if I might go into a little bit of detail of what we have 
thus far been able to determine with that $250 million that has 
been expended. 

The CHAIRMAN. Without objection. 
Mr. KEMPTHORNE. In a $20-million examination, we did, of the 

five named plaintiffs in the Cobell case and the predecessors, we 
looked at 12,500 transactions. We found net overpayments of 
$3,250. Looking at judgment accounts, we have 77,818 of those. We 
have reconciled 84 percent of those accounts, totaling $413 million, 
and found a net underpayment of $19,100. We have reconciled 92 
percent of our capital accounts, totaling about $182 million. We 
found a net overpayment of $2,700. 

The litigation support accounting project is looking at the accu-
racy of land-based individual Indian money accounts, and rec-
onciles all high dollar accounts, which would be $100,000 or greater 
transactions, and does a statistical sample of smaller value, those 

VerDate 0ct 09 2002 12:57 Jul 23, 2007 Jkt 034405 PO 00000 Frm 00011 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 S:\DOCS\34405.TXT JACKF PsN: JACK



8

that are less than $100,000 transactions, drawn from 1985 to 2000 
land-based IIM accounts nationwide. 

For the high dollar transactions, we have reconciled $483 million 
so far. We found a total net of $667 in overpayments. That is out 
of $483 million. For the statistical sample, we have looked at 4,480 
transactions totaling $4.89 million and found a net overpayment of 
$1,194. 

Mr. Vice Chairman, the Department is fully prepared to continue 
the historical accounting. We believe that we have the tools nec-
essary to do so, including the records. 

Senator THOMAS. Thank you, Mr. Secretary. That is basically my 
question. 

The CHAIRMAN. Senator Tester. 
Senator TESTER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I apologize for being late, so I wasn’t able to hear all of your tes-

timony, Secretary Kempthorne. So if this is repetitive of what you 
said in the beginning, let me know. 

My question revolves around money that I think is being offered 
to be allocated to Indian country in this 110th Congress, and there 
being some, I don’t know, some language around that, maybe not 
formally, but at least what I am hearing in the halls, some of this 
money is going to be allocated for purposes of the Cobell suit. In 
fact, maybe even the perspective is do we settle with Cobell.

I have two questions. No. 1, I envision the suit being settled by 
everybody getting in the same room and figuring out how to settle 
it, and there being some remuneration toward that settlement. So 
do you anticipate that being done? 

No. 2, what is it about the money? Is this real? I mean, I am 
hearing, I think $7 billion was tossed around. To my understanding 
is that, well, I don’t know if that is adequate or not. I am not here 
to say that that is adequate, but there have been figures of $200 
billion being thrown around for the settlement of the Cobell suit. 
So is that figure something that has been agreed upon between 
Elouise Cobell and the department, or tribal members and the de-
partment? Where did this come from? 

Mr. KEMPTHORNE. Senator Tester, I appreciate your question. 
The $7 billion is in a letter which was sent to the chairman and 
to the vice chairman, signed by both the attorney general and my-
self. It is a figure, $7 billion, that has been derived through a proc-
ess working with the Department of Justice on their view of litiga-
tion risk on the Department of the Interior and the Office of Man-
agement and Budget. 

I think what is most important, Senator, is the fact that for the 
first time ever on this issue that the Administration has come for-
ward. We have said that we would like to see a conclusion. For the 
first time ever, the Administration has put a dollar figure on the 
table. It is $7 billion. 

To follow through to the nature of your question, how that might 
be identified and what the thoughts may be, there are four major 
elements in that figure that we derived. The first is to settle the 
Cobell case and any other future cases related to management of 
individual Indian lands or assets that stem from the lands. 

The second is to settle similar tribal cases. It is also to provide 
mechanisms and money for land consolidation, which we think is 
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absolutely important, so that individual Indian land becomes more 
economic and is put to its best use. And also then in converting In-
dian lands that are tied to a status where they are owner-managed. 

So this is the suggested approach by the Administration with a 
dollar amount attached to it. 

Senator TESTER. Okay. I am not going to really talk about the 
three or four items you talked about, the settlement of the case and 
other items. What I do want to ask, and I will just add this one 
more questions, the Department of Justice and Interior and Office 
of Management and Budget were the ones who came up with the 
figure. This wasn’t arbitrarily done because you had some stand-
ards, but my question is, inclusion also means you have to bring 
the folks in who filed the suit. Were they brought in as part of the 
discussion? 

Mr. KEMPTHORNE. Senator, this is a proposal that has been 
brought forward by the Administration. 

Senator TESTER. Okay. Has there been any dialog with Cobell? 
Mr. KEMPTHORNE. Senator, there has been. I will tell you that 

there has not been by myself personally, having been in this posi-
tion for 10 months. But in the 11 years, there have been at least 
two different efforts at arbitration. I believe one of the individuals 
who was tasked with that responsibility is here on the panel and 
will be addressing that. 

Senator TESTER. And if any of these questions can be answered, 
they are the members of the panel that have further information 
that I would like to have. It just seems to me that that is a critical 
component we may be missing in this whole thing. 

Thank you. 
The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Secretary, first of all, I agree with you that 

the fact that the Federal Government has propositioned that there 
is a potential $7 billion liability here is a very significant step, be-
cause the Federal Government has not previously indicated that 
kind of liability, with the exception of the Attorney General who I 
think testified in another venue that the potential liability could be 
$200 billion, as I understand it. I will ask Mr. Mercer about that. 
But Mr. Cason previously, and Ross Swimmer, testifying have indi-
cated that the exposure is limited to less than $500 million per-
haps. And so this is a significant change. 

But let me respond to the details you were talking about with 
respect to the survey of the information that leads you to a certain 
conclusion. My understanding is that the analysis conducted by the 
department was focused on per capita accounts for the periods for 
which electronic records were kept, roughly 1985 to present. And 
these accounts are a very small fraction of the total accounts, and 
they are the ones that are the most easily administered. In short, 
they are not representative. In fact, I am quoting from Mr. 
Bickerman’s testimony now: ‘‘This analysis is not representative of 
the potential claims.’’

I do want to show, if I can, photograph 2 and 3 again. My under-
standing as I show this is that there is a new repository, a new 
facility in Kansas, the American Indian Records Repository, and if 
I showed a picture of that we would see a very nice repository of 
records that are kept in perfect order. 
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But the question is, what kind of records went to the new reposi-
tory, when this is a picture of the records at the Fort Totten Agen-
cy. Take a look at that, and ask yourself, what do you think some-
body gleaned from that? And then we show the second picture, the 
second photograph. The reason I show these is to demonstrate how 
unbelievably inept the keeping of these records were, and why I 
said at the start of this that Mrs. Cobell and others as plaintiffs 
had every right to file a suit and to be very concerned about this. 

The circumstances it seems to me, and thank you for the photo-
graphs, are what has been the error rate and what interest rate 
do you use over a period of well over a century in order to try to 
calculate some kind of settlement here. I want to ask you specifi-
cally, Mr. Secretary, the Administration settlement proposal goes 
well beyond the circumstances of the Cobell lawsuit. 

I don’t disagree at all that fractionation is a very serious problem 
and we have to find a way to fix it, perhaps even in these cir-
cumstances. But the proposal includes a settlement of tribal claims 
and the conversion of Indian trust into owner-managed trusts. In 
your remarks, first of all, you indicated these issues are require-
ments for any settlement legislation. 

My question is, first of all, we don’t even know the extent of the 
tribal claims really. Isn’t that right? And I think that probably 
gave rise to the attorney general testifying previously in another 
venue in Congress that potential liability may be up to $200 billion. 
But to require the Cobell case be settled in conjunction with all 
tribal claims, the universe of which we don’t even know, is I think 
one that probably means that it cannot be settled under those cir-
cumstances. 

So the question is, would the Administration remain supportive 
of a settlement at some level if some but not all of the issues in 
the Administration’s settlement proposal are included in a legisla-
tive bill? 

Mr. KEMPTHORNE. Mr. Chairman, because, as has been pointed 
out, this issue has been going on for virtually a century, we believe 
this is an opportunity based on the actions brought forward by Ms. 
Cobell. To reach a settlement, and because of the issues that are 
both individual related and tribal related are interrelated, we be-
lieve that this is an opportunity for us to look at all of these issues 
and how they do relate to one another so that we don’t expend the 
resources, the time of the last 11 years and solve just one compo-
nent part, and then continue what may be another decade or two 
decades to take each next component part. 

If in fact this is an opportunity, with your leadership, and the 
leadership of others that have been involved with this, and see if 
on our watch we can find a solution, that is our preference. 

The CHAIRMAN. Are the tribal claims an essential requirement 
for the Administration in terms of resolving this? Let me tell you 
why I ask that question. Mr. Bickerman, as you know, was one of 
the two mediators. Both mediators worked at great length and 
tried very hard to find a resolution, and could not. But Mr. 
Bickerman in his testimony today says that more time and analysis 
will not yield a result that is more precise or less arbitrary. He 
talks about a number in the range of $7 billion to $9 billion to set-
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tle the Cobell litigation can be supported by available data using 
reasonable economic assumptions. 

But Mr. Bickerman’s proposition here of the $7 billion to $9 bil-
lion settlement does not include an analysis or any attempt at an 
analysis of the tribal claims, which are a completely separate set 
of issues. 

Mr. KEMPTHORNE. I appreciate that, Mr. Chairman. We would be 
very interested to see what his analysis is, Mr. Bickerman’s, and 
how he derived those figures. That would be part of this. But at 
the Administration, it would be our hope and our intent that we 
could find a solution to these issues concerning Indian country, in-
dividual and tribal, and put them together so we can have a resolu-
tion that would be a path forward for Indian country. 

The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Secretary, I have a list of questions I want 
to submit to you, because we would like to exchange on the record 
answers to a series of inquiries. We regret very much the 1 hour 
and 45 minute delay that could not be avoided. Because you are 
a former member of the U.S. Senate, you understand that. But I 
am going to let you go, and thank you very much for being here, 
and say this. I think on behalf of Senator Thomas, myself and 
other members of this committee, we really want to continue the 
discussion that starts with this hearing to see if there is a way to 
resolve this issue, because it casts a shadow over virtually every-
thing else that we are doing. It is going to take a substantial 
amount of resources. It is also going to mean a fair number of peo-
ple are going to die before there is a result if this continues in the 
court system for 10 years. 

I want to continue in an aggressive way to work with you and 
with everyone involved in these issues to see if there is a way to 
solve this, to settle it, in a manner that is fair to the plaintiffs and 
in a manner that is fair to the Federal Government, without re-
quiring that other issues be resolved attendant to it, for which we 
don’t have adequate information. 

So Secretary Kempthorne, thank you very much for being with 
us today. 

Senator Thomas. 
Senator Tester? Anything else? 
Senator THOMAS. No; I think I have a couple of questions, too, 

Mr. Secretary, that we will submit. 
The CHAIRMAN. We will submit that. And Mr. Cason will remain, 

I expect? 
Mr. Secretary, thank you very much. 
Mr. KEMPTHORNE. Mr. Chairman, thank you very much. I appre-

ciate again your reaching out as you are in this leadership capac-
ity, and the vice chairman. We would like to see the resolution. As 
you point out, we may not know all of the answers. As I have gone 
into more and more detail on this, to try and understand the last 
11 years of the history, to see how complicated it is, the fact that 
now have some 300 million pages of documents such as you have 
reflected in that picture. In 1999, yes, that is where they were, but 
now they are in one of the state of the art archival retrieval pro-
grams. 
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Therefore, again we believe now that while we have done a sam-
ple, we now can go forward with about 99 percent of the records 
that exist. 

So Mr. Chairman, again, I except the atmosphere that you have 
established here, and we look forward to being a full part of it. 

The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Secretary, thank you very much. 
Mr. KEMPTHORNE. Thank you. 
The CHAIRMAN. Next, we will hear from the two additional wit-

nesses on this panel: William Mercer, acting associate attorney 
general at the Department of Justice. I know Mr. Mercer had some 
other engagements this morning which probably have fallen by the 
wayside. We appreciate your patience as well. 

And then we will hear from John Bickerman, who was one of the 
mediators. 

Mr. Mercer, why don’t you proceed? Your entire statement will 
be made a part of the record, and we would ask you to summarize. 

STATEMENT OF WILLIAM W. MERCER, ACTING ASSOCIATE 
ATTORNEY GENERAL, DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE 

Mr. MERCER. Good morning, Mr. Chairman and Mr. Vice Chair-
man and Senator Tester. 

As you know, Attorney General Gonzales and Secretary Kemp-
thorne recently proposed resolution to a group of Indian trust 
issues and offered to spend up to $7 billion implementing that pro-
posal. I know that the committee is very familiar with these issues, 
so I won’t spend too much time on the history of these problems. 

The Cobell and tribal trust cases and trust management issues 
more generally have taken up a great deal of the committee’s time 
in recent years, as well as the time of the executive branch agen-
cies and the courts. In fact, the Washington, DC Circuit Court of 
Appeals has emphasized how time consuming this litigation has 
been in the courts, and urged the parties to come together and find 
a resolution. That is what we have tried to do in developing our 
legislative proposal. 

As Secretary Kempthorne has already discussed, our legislative 
proposal does more than settle the pending litigation. It also ad-
dresses the structural problems that give rise to the litigation, with 
the goal of getting individual Indians and tribes more control over 
their lands and resources. I want to say at the outset that we will 
work together to put together a proposal that is fair and equitable. 
Our proposal is to settle litigation claims, so it needs to provide 
just compensation for those claims of individual Indians and to In-
dian tribes. 

At the same time, it is not fair to ask the taxpayer to pay more 
in settlement than plaintiffs would receive in court. The Depart-
ment of the Interior’s ongoing review of these accounts and of the 
historical record continues to confirm that the rate of error in these 
trust accounts is low. The United States also has a number of de-
fenses in these cases and we are prepared to present those defenses 
in court should the litigation continue. 

That said, we strongly support the legislative settlement which 
we believe is in the best interests of all the parties involved. These 
complex historical cases are not well suited to be handled by 
courts. The Cobell litigation has been underway for 11 years so far, 

VerDate 0ct 09 2002 12:57 Jul 23, 2007 Jkt 034405 PO 00000 Frm 00016 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 S:\DOCS\34405.TXT JACKF PsN: JACK



13

and the tribal cases before the Indian Claims Commission were not 
resolved for over 30 years. The process of analyzing and reading 
millions of pages of historical records relating to individual and 
tribal accounts is still ongoing and promises to be very costly. 

Those costs are a deadweight loss to the plaintiffs and the tax-
payers. Everyone benefits if these claims are resolved without the 
costs and litigation, and with the moneys going to individual Na-
tive Americans and tribes, and to otherwise advance reform. 

A settlement will also provide a prompt and definite payment to 
individuals and tribes. By contrast, litigation could take many 
years and some plaintiffs will ultimately receive no recovery. 

To realize these benefits, any resolution must provide finality; 
otherwise the benefits of settlement and perhaps the settlement 
money itself could be swallowed up in unnecessary litigation. Thus, 
our proposal seeks to resolve all of the claims together, through a 
streamlined and fair administrative process, and provides a num-
ber of safeguards to ensure that this is the final resolution. 

Our claims settlement proposal, taken together with our proposal 
to resolve fractionation and improving trust management, provides 
an opportunity for historic change in the management of the Indian 
trust. The existing relationship has been dominated by litigation. 
That adversarial relationship has interfered with the ability of in-
dividuals and tribes who own these lands and resources to enjoy 
the full benefits of their own property. 

Our proposal would keep these lands in trust, but provide the 
trust beneficiaries with more direct control over their own assets. 
It would also eliminate the fractionation that has burdened the 
management of these lands. 

For many years, there has been a trend in Indian country of 
tribes to seek more sovereignty over their own property decisions. 
Our proposal is a natural continuation of that process. We hope 
that these changes will help break the cycle of disputes and litiga-
tion that has gone on for so long, and open the doors to productive 
management of these lands by the tribes, who are the true owners. 

We look forward to working with the committee, and hope that 
by working together, we can carry out the reforms we have pro-
posed. 

Thank you very much. 
[Prepared statement of Mr. Mercer appears in appendix.] 
The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Mercer, thank you very much. 
Next, we will hear from John Bickerman, who was one of the me-

diators that was chosen by both parties. Mr. Bickerman, you may 
proceed, and your entire statement will be made a part of the 
record, and you may summarize. 

STATEMENT OF JOHN BICKERMAN, BICKERMAN DISPUTE 
RESOLUTION 

Mr. BICKERMAN. Thank you, Chairman Dorgan. 
Chairman Dorgan, Vice Chairman Thomas and members of the 

committee, Judge Charles Renfrew and I thank the committee for 
giving us the opportunity to testify regarding the most recent offer 
by the Administration to resolve the Cobell litigation. 

The Administration’s March 1 letter provides a very valuable op-
portunity to advance a settlement. The committee should not hesi-

VerDate 0ct 09 2002 12:57 Jul 23, 2007 Jkt 034405 PO 00000 Frm 00017 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 S:\DOCS\34405.TXT JACKF PsN: JACK



14

tate to seize this chance to act. Our remarks may be 
uncharacteristically direct for mediators used to seeing both sides 
of every dispute. However, the committee needs a frank, unvar-
nished appraisal of settlement options by a disinterested party so 
that it can move ahead to resolve this litigation that has done so 
much to poison the relationship between the executive branch and 
Indian country for more than a decade and two administrations. 

I thought it would be useful to give just a little bit of background 
because I know there are some new members to the committee. 
Our testimony needs to be understood in light of the context of our 
involvement in this matter. In March 2004, this committee and the 
House Committee on Resources contacted Judge Renfrew and my-
self to mediate the Cobell dispute. Funding for our services was 
provided by the Department of Justice, but we were assured we 
would have complete independence in our actions and, indeed, we 
have enjoyed the traditional independence and neutrality that neu-
tral mediators require. 

However, our mission was much broader than a traditional medi-
ation. From the outset, both the parties and the congressional staff 
requested that we periodically report back to Congress regarding 
our efforts and our progress. This request was made for three rea-
sons: First, any resolution achieved through negotiation likely 
would require congressional action; second, Congress wanted to 
know if either the plaintiffs or the defendants were behaving in a 
dilatory manner or otherwise negotiating in bad faith; and third, 
Congress wanted to know whether a negotiated resolution would be 
possible, and that if it was impossible we needed to tell the com-
mittee so they could decide whether to take action. 

In most mediations, confidentiality of negotiations is a bedrock 
principle. In this case, very little of the content of our discussions 
remained confidential. Indeed, we were expected to periodically dis-
close our conclusions to Congress through this committee. 

Senator Tester asked before whether the parties had ever met. 
The answer was yes, frequently. We tried, but our efforts were ut-
terly unavailing. Although we made some small progress with re-
spect to information technology, after a relatively short period of 
time, we realized that we could not as neutrals bring the two sides 
to a point where they could settle the dispute. 

And so within 6 months, we were back before the committee’s 
leadership. In October 2004, we met with the leaders of the com-
mittee, at that time, Senators Inouye and Senator Campbell, the 
House Resources Committee leaders Congressmen Pombo and Ra-
hall to report our conclusions, and urge the Congress to take the 
lead for enacting a resolution. We said then and we will repeat now 
that only congressional action can resolve this dispute for the ben-
efit of the beneficiaries of the IIM Trust and allow the United 
States to devote its resources to the traditional services it has pro-
vided Indian country. 

Nothing has changed. In the winter of 2005, we met with the 
chairman of this committee to urge that the committee not aban-
don the effort to find a legislative solution. He agreed and directed 
the staff to draft legislation. Throughout the last Congress, Senator 
McCain and Senator Dorgan devoted significant time and effort to 
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the development of a legislative settlement, often in the face of un-
founded criticism from many quarters. 

Then on August 1, 2006, Senators Dorgan and McCain and Sec-
retary Kempthorne and Attorney General Gonzales convened a 
meeting. Although we weren’t there, we understand that the par-
ticipants of this August 1 meeting directed their staffs to draft leg-
islation that could be passed in the last Congress. Almost imme-
diately, senior staff from the Departments of Justice, Interior and 
Treasury and the Office of Management and Budget began high-
level meetings with congressional staff to carryout the direction of 
their principals. An extraordinary amount of creative energy went 
into these discussions. While the final result did not produce the 
intended legislation, there are many worthwhile ideas that are 
worth retaining and that were discussed. 

Complex litigation like this takes many years to pass. The time 
is ripe to solve this problem forever. 

I want to add, this is not a partisan issue, and way too much 
time and resources have already been wasted and more will be 
wasted attempting to make a broken system work if Congress fails 
to act. I am often asked, well, why don’t we just leave it to the 
courts. Well, the courts are not in the position to solve this prob-
lem, and Congress has an independent trust responsibility to do 
something, and that is why I believe we are here today. 

No reasonable person questions whether trust beneficiaries have 
been harmed by the failure of the United States over many decades 
to account for assets and management of the assets, and many de-
serving beneficiaries have died in the interim. Those beneficiaries 
who are alive will never be made whole without your attention. 

I want to skip a good chunk of what I had put in my written tes-
timony, to address what I think are the elements of the deal, and 
in particular talk about the values. 

While there is no serious dispute over the question of liability, 
the gulf that divides the parties over the magnitude of the liability 
is still enormous. The Administration contends that the exposure 
of Cobell is less than $500 million. The plaintiffs have been pub-
licly asserting that the value of their claim is in excess of $100 bil-
lion. They are both wrong. Judge Renfrew and I say it unequivo-
cally. The reason we think they are both wrong is that the Admin-
istration’s $500 million number, while it focuses on the pure cal-
culation of the accounts that are managed, that the Secretary de-
scribed, it fails to account for the other pieces that are part of what 
the Administration calls the other related Cobell claims. Let me 
give you an example. 

We have reason to believe that over the course of the last 100 
and some odd years, that the Administration did not collect all of 
the income that the trust beneficiaries were entitled to. Indeed, 
after 1980, under the Grace Commission, under the direction of its 
chairman Mr. Linowes, reported that about 10 percent of moneys 
that the Department of the Interior was supposed to collect from 
lessees was never collected. If it was never collected from non-tribal 
lessees, it is reasonable to conclude that it was never collected from 
tribal lessees. The value of dollars 50, 75, or 100 years ago are 
much greater than the value of dollars now. 
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We looked at using that percentage of the value of the funds that 
were not collected, or if they were collected, were collected late. 
And when we used very reasonable assumptions that were in the 
record from the 1980’s, and applied reasonable interest rates, and 
assumed what a certain amount of that money would return over 
a period of 3 years, we came up with a range of estimates based 
on the interest rates between $4 billion to $7 billion. Those were 
the numbers that were included in last year’s testimony. I think 
that that is a reasonable place for this resolution to focus on. 

But I would like also to talk about the elements of a settlement. 
I was very pleased to hear the Secretary talk about self-determina-
tion, because we think that without voluntary self-determination 
and control, a resolution of this dispute will just not be possible po-
litically. That is a key element. 

In the 109th Congress, the settlement of Cobell was married to 
trust reform and it would be a mistake to resolve the accounting 
litigation without fixing the basic flaws in the system. However, in 
doing so, Congress must be sensitive to the historical context of the 
relationship between the United States and its beneficiaries. 

Fixing fractionated interests is a key element. There is a con-
sensus that highly fractionated interests in trust land limits the 
productivity of the land, reduces the value of the land, impedes effi-
cient trust accounting, and leads to errors because keeping track 
of beneficiaries with very small interests becomes almost impos-
sible. A sensible solution here would be to encourage the voluntary 
exchange or substitution of fractionated interests for cash or shares 
of ownership in the land. 

If I can digress here for just 1 minute. I just spent the last 2 
days with the Yakama Nation in the Yakima Valley. We passed 
acre after acre of land that was often farmed as vineyards or land 
that was being put to good use. And then we come across some fal-
low land. I turned to the person who I was with, and I said, ‘‘well, 
why isn’t that land being farmed?’’ And he said, ‘‘well, it takes 2 
years to lease that land.’’ I said, ‘‘why does it take 2 years?’’ ‘‘Well, 
that land is so highly fractionated, by the time all the interest own-
ers can be collected and vote on what to do, it takes 2 years to sign 
a least.’’ ‘‘Is the value of that land worth much?’’ This woman said, 
‘‘absolutely it is worth less because it’s so fractionated.’’

Dealing with fractionation is a hidden value that we can capture 
if we can resolve this litigation. 

The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Bickerman, I want you to summarize. We 
are about out of time for your testimony. 

Mr. BICKERMAN. Okay. 
In conclusion, Mr. Chairman, I would just like to emphasize the 

importance of having voluntary self-governance, dealing with frac-
tionation, and resolving all the pending issues. I would in closing 
say that we have not looked at the tribal claims and we do not 
have a sense of what they are worth. 

Thank you. 
[Prepared statement of Mr. Bickerman appears in appendix.] 
The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Bickerman, thank you for your testimony, 

and thank you for the work that you have put in to trying to un-
derstand and work on this issue. 
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Mr. Mercer, in a statement to the House Subcommittee on Jus-
tice Department Appropriations in March 2005, Attorney General 
Gonzales estimated that the Government’s liability for tribal trust 
claims would be over $200 billion. Is this still the Department of 
Justice’s estimate? 

Mr. MERCER. It is not, Mr. Chairman. I am familiar with the 
statement. I guess I have a couple of points I would like to make 
on the statement. 

I believe that that text talks about the allegations that have been 
set forth in claims as part of the tribal trust litigation. Going to the 
question that you posed, Mr. Chairman, we have already seen dis-
missal of a claim for $100 billion as part of that ongoing litigation. 

So we certainly believe that that figure represents claims that 
were set forth by the parties. We have already prevailed in one of 
those cases and we believe that the ultimate value is much, much, 
much less than what the stated claims were by those parties. 

The CHAIRMAN. Do you believe that there is a liability of some 
type or of some quantity with respect to tribal claims? 

Mr. MERCER. I think, Mr. Chairman, the proposal that the Ad-
ministration set forth is a reflection that we have some reform 
goals that we would like to see achieved, and we also believe, as 
part and parcel of that settlement, that we can resolve claims 
brought as part of the tribal trust litigation and as part of the 
Cobell litigation. 

The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Mercer, do you think there is a distinction 
between the plaintiffs represented by Mrs. Cobell with respect to 
the individual accounts that they allege have been mismanaged 
and for which there is some evidence of substantial mismanage-
ment. Is there a distinction between those issues and the issues of 
a tribal government that makes claims on its behalf? 

Mr. MERCER. Well, certainly the course of the litigation, I think, 
is one thing that distinguishes it. As you noted, Mr. Chairman, the 
litigation is now past 1 decade in terms of the case in the District 
Court here in Washington, DC. That litigation seeks an accounting, 
at least in the view of the Government. So we are at a stage in that 
process where the Department of the Interior is attempting to com-
plete the accounting as ordered by the court. That is the threshold. 

That is something that can then be litigated and probably will 
be litigated in terms of the viability of the accounting. We would 
then, at some point, I think individual claimants could then go to 
the Court of Claims or District Courts if the claims were of small 
value, and litigate those claims. We are concerned that this will be 
endless litigation because we will see not only the accounting itself 
being litigated, but appeals of that process, and then the litigation 
of the claims themselves in other courts, and the potential appeals 
there. 

The CHAIRMAN. But Mr. Mercer, you saw the pictures that I 
showed, the photographs today of the condition of certain records. 
Unbelievable, of course. You have to see that to believe that incom-
petence. If you were an individual with a claim and feel you have 
been cheated because of improper record keeping and so on over a 
long, long period of time, if you were an individual you would feel 
the right to seek redress in the courts as an individual. 
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My question to you is, is that not distinct and different than a 
claim that a tribe will make at some point on behalf of tribal as-
sets? 

Mr. MERCER. Certainly one thing they both share in common is, 
as Secretary Kempthorne noted, the fact that the kind of records 
that are depicted there, to the extent that those records are being 
recovered and are being entered into this data tracking system that 
allows the accountants to perform the full accounting, the thing 
that the tribal trust cases share in common with the claims made 
by individuals is that there are accountings that need to be done 
with respect to furthering those claims. We are well down the path 
of completing that accounting, which certainly informs the Govern-
ment’s view of the value. 

So that is a common theme here in developing that threshold of 
information, which we certainly believe is being developed in the 
course of the process. 

The CHAIRMAN. You are still not answering the question I think 
I am asking. Isn’t there a difference between individuals whose ac-
counts have been mismanaged, who filed to seek redress in the 
courts, and the attempt to settle that? Isn’t there a difference be-
tween that and tribal governments, which are sovereign govern-
ments, whose assets have been mismanaged and wish to file a trib-
al claim? Isn’t there a difference between the two? And why do you 
insist on marrying the two with respect to the settlement of the 
Cobell case? 

Mr. MERCER. There is a difference in that we are talking about 
the [inaudible] and the accounting that is being performed to deter-
mine what the error rate is and what the loss would be. I think 
the tribal trust claims are different in that that litigation is, al-
though it is still tried to determine what the value of some assets 
are, it is true that I think the nature of the claims are the same. 

The CHAIRMAN. But there is a difference in ownership? Indi-
vidual ownership versus tribal ownership. That is what I am trying 
to get you to say. Isn’t that the case? 

Mr. MERCER. I think that is true, Senator. 
The CHAIRMAN. And so if you were the owner of an individual 

trust account, felt you had been cheated on it, and it had been mis-
managed and so on, and you went to the court and said, I am going 
to file a claim to get what is owed me. And they said, I’ll tell you 
what, we will settle it only but we will settle it, if you are willing 
to settle other issues over here, the extent of which we don’t even 
understand, and the liabilities for which accrue to a tribe that had 
nothing to do with individual accounts. 

Do you understand their angst about that? 
Mr. MERCER. I certainly do, but I think all the things that the 

Government has set forth in terms of principles of this proposal are 
related. One of the things that we are talking about is the fact that 
if we are going to resolve this in a fashion with full and fair com-
pensation, there is an interest in saying, let’s make a determina-
tion about the value, whether we are talking about individual ac-
counts or whether we are talking about what is being owed to the 
tribes. 

If we are going to continue down the litigation path, which is not 
what the Administration would choose to do at this point because 
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we believe that if we can resolve it, it inures to the benefit of all. 
But there isn’t anything that says we can’t continue to litigate. It 
is just not a good way to do it. It will take decades, as the Indian 
Claims Commission experience represents. 

The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Mercer, if Mr. Bickerman, one of the medi-
ators, concludes, having looked at what he has looked at, that $7 
billion to $9 billion is probably a fair range of settlement for the 
individual accounts, your proposal seems to suggest that tribal ac-
counts are worth nothing. I am talking about the potential claims. 

Mr. MERCER. As Mr. Bickerman said, I think we are happy to 
continue the conversation in terms of his valuation, but you are 
right, Mr. Chairman. Our valuation based upon what we are seeing 
in the accounting, which may, I think, I can’t remember exactly 
when Mr. Bickerman’s work ended, but it is clear that that ac-
counting has continued and the error rates, as Secretary Kemp-
thorne talked about, and the fact that all these records have been 
entered into the system, we have a data set that would suggest the 
error rates are quite low. We do have a different approximation of 
value to this. 

The CHAIRMAN. But Mr. Mercer, that set of data has virtually 
nothing, well, I shouldn’t say nothing, but that set of data would 
be the kindest evaluation of the circumstances. You have taken 
that data which has been recorded and mechanized from 1985 for-
ward. We are talking about liabilities for accounts that have been 
mismanaged for well over a century. I have looked at some of the 
details of that, and what has happened. I think there are plaintiffs 
here that have had assets stolen from them, unbelievable mis-
management. 

Look, I think that working with the Department of the Interior, 
the Justice Department, and others, it seems to me that it is in the 
interests of this country to find a way to resolve this. Otherwise, 
we will in the next decade or perhaps 2 decades see this bouncing 
around forever. Those who should get redress in the courts will not 
get it. And virtually everything else that we try to do will be af-
fected by it, that is trying to find funds for crises in health care 
and education and housing and so on. 

So I want us to continue to work with the Attorney General and 
the Secretary of the Interior and the Administration. I want us to 
get to the right result, but I would like to find a way for us to con-
structively reach agreement if it is possible. 

Senator Thomas. 
Senator THOMAS. Thank you. 
Mr. Mercer, I am a little confused, did the DOJ not say the Gov-

ernment was potentially liable for $200 billion. The Department 
said that the exposure was there for $200 billion. Is that correct? 

Mr. MERCER. The statement that you refer to, Mr. Vice Chair-
man, is that the department suggests that it needed a certain 
amount of money to defend the claims for allegations of potential 
exposure in these cases. As I have noted, since the time of that tes-
timony, we have already prevailed in a case in which the allegation 
by the plaintiff in a tribal trust case was for $100 billion. So it is 
the Government’s position at this point that the exposure based 
upon what has been articulated by plaintiffs far exceeds what we 
believe the values are. 
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Senator THOMAS. Okay. I just wanted to make that clear. 
Is it practical do you think to resolve the hundreds of lawsuits 

in one piece of legislation? 
Mr. MERCER. Well, we believe that this reform package, which as 

I have noted, includes $7 billion, an amount that the Administra-
tion has set forward to try to resolve the number of claims, not only 
deals with the litigation that is presently ongoing in various courts, 
but achieves the reform agenda that was set forth by Secretary 
Kempthorne. We believe that as part of the conversation with this 
committee, and collaborating with the parties, that we can advance 
the goals that the chairman has talked about and that are part of 
the Administration’s principles. 

Senator THOMAS. We have this question for Mr. Bickerman. 
The CHAIRMAN. Yes; let’s do that. 
Senator THOMAS. Mr. Bickerman, apparently your testimony in-

dicates that the plaintiffs and the Government have taken unrea-
sonable positions with regard to the claims. If that is the case, do 
you think we can compromise and negotiate? And if not, why not? 

Mr. BICKERMAN. Yes; I do think that a compromise is possible, 
Mr. Vice Chairman. I think that the Administration’s efforts with 
the congressional staff last year that ended in December was a step 
in the right direction. I think the Administration’s willingness to 
put a number on the table on March 1 and have a comprehensive 
package of ideas is a further step in the right direction. I think 
with further work by this committee that a resolution is possible 
and maybe even within sight in this Congress. Absolutely. 

Senator THOMAS. Of course, if it is done in this Congress, why 
Congress will come up with its own solution, somewhere between 
the two parties. Do you think either of them will ever accept that 
kind of an agreement? Or does it matter? 

Mr. BICKERMAN. Well, if it becomes law, I think they will accept 
it. My sense is that at this juncture in time, everybody recognizes 
that the past can’t be the future, that it has been so destructive. 
Federal policies are being made through the prism of Cobell, and 
that is not healthy, and I think that there is a willingness to work 
together. I think that the issues you are dealing with in your ques-
tions with respect to the inclusion of tribal claims is a very valid 
one to have a discussion about. I think in particular there is an 
issue of self-governance, and making it voluntary. I think there are 
ways that historically Congress has done that through Public Law 
93–638, and that is a good model. It needs to be tinkered with. 

I also think that the avoided costs, the amount of money that we 
will spend if we do nothing will swamp what we could spend to fix 
it now. So there is enormous incentive to get it right and do it now. 

Senator THOMAS. Thank you. Do you suggest a figure somewhere 
between $7 billion and $9 billion, was that both for individual 
claims and tribal claims? 

Mr. BICKERMAN. That analysis was just focused on the individual 
claims. It was focused on what the other Cobell related claims, but 
it was just the IIM accounts that I had looked at, and I am not, 
and Judge Renfrew and I have not looked the tribal claims. The 
tribal claims came into the picture in December for the first time. 

Senator THOMAS. The proposition before us, however, applies to 
both. Isn’t that correct? 
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Mr. BICKERMAN. The Administration’s proposal does, yes, sir. 
Senator THOMAS. Thank you. 
The CHAIRMAN. Senator Tester. 
Senator TESTER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
For Bill Mercer, Bill, I think there is a letter, a March 1 letter 

that [inaudible] and future liabilities, if this is sound. Is that cor-
rect? 

Mr. MERCER. It is, Senator. Yes. 
Senator TESTER. Okay. And so I guess the first question would 

be, do you anticipate future mismanagement with [inaudible] 
Mr. MERCER. Well, a big part of the reform package, Senator, is 

the fact that we believe that we can change the way this relation-
ship has worked. And so, we are hopeful that in fact we will be 
able to reform it in a way that will be an effective change for the 
future. 

Senator TESTER. I would hope that would be the case, because 
quite frankly I would hate to see us pass a law where it said that 
the bank can do whatever they want with my money and I would 
have no recourse. Do you understand what I am saying? 

To make it proactive and settle all future settlements, I mean, 
that is a huge step. It could create some major problems. 

From our conversation, in about June 2005 you were selected to 
be here in Washington, DC and your assistant [inaudible] I think 
that happened in September 2006. The dates don’t matter. But in 
the meantime, you still filled the job as U.S. Attorney for Montana. 

The question I have for you, has that had impacts on job per-
formance here and in Montana? Are we short-changing folks in 
Montana or here? And as it particularly applies to each of those 
jobs, and as it applies to this lawsuit, is there a problem there? 

I feel, because I am trying to fill two jobs right now, one 2,200 
miles away, as yours was, and this one. It is very difficult to do. 
What is your perspective on that? 

Mr. MERCER. Well, let me talk about the operations of U.S. attor-
neys offices first, and note that the Sentencing Commission just re-
cently issued its data for fiscal year 2006. When you compare the 
work that we are doing in the District of Montana with what we 
have done historically, and with my peers, I am very pleased to re-
port that production in terms of the number of cases charged that 
resulted in sentences has continued to go up during that time pe-
riod. 

If you take a look at the sentence length as a proxy for the seri-
ousness of the case, I think you will see that the productivity of the 
men and women that are serving as assistant U.S. attorneys in 
Montana is extraordinary. I think things are going very well there. 
Again, if you take a look at the historic comparison, it figures out 
to be very favorable. 

So I am happy to talk to you in great detail and give you all 
those statistics, but I think by any fair measure of what it is that 
we are doing day to day in court, it is I think going very, very well. 
I continue to go back. I was back last week. I continue to go back 
and I continue to have daily communication with the leadership 
team I have in place there. 

In terms of issues here, I think it bridges the two in that here 
is an issue that as a Montanan, I have a significant amount of per-
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spective on, having basically been born and raised in the State and 
understanding some of the challenges that this presents for Native 
Americans and tribes in the State of Montana. I think there is a 
value to having people that serve in the Administration that have 
that perspective from the field, if you will. 

And so I think you can get value and efficiencies by having those 
sorts of perspectives, and I hope I can bring that to this issue. 

Senator TESTER. So ultimately in the end, Montana doesn’t need 
a full-time prosecutor? 

Mr. MERCER. Montana has 22 full-time Assistant U.S. attorneys 
and a person as U.S. attorney that is engaged every day in terms 
of the work of that office. If you look at, again, 2001 data, 2002 
data, and 2006 data, you will see that that productivity continues 
to go up every year. 

Senator TESTER. Can I just ask about one specific issue as it ap-
plies to Montana and the tribes? It is methamphetamines. It is a 
huge issue in Indian country. It is a huge issue all over the State 
of Montana. How are those prosecutions been going? 

Mr. MERCER. Well, I am delighted to report that ONDCP has just 
funded a new task force that is going to cover Crow and Northern 
Cheyenne. We have the Safe Trails Task Force that does Indian 
country meth work on the Blackfeet Reservation. We have the Tri-
Agency Task Force that is based out of Havre—in your region—
that does the drug investigations both on Rocky Boy and Fort 
Belknap. And in Fort Peck, there is Federal money that goes to 
something called the Big Muddy Task Force. 

My office does as many felony prosecutions dealing with drugs in 
Indian country as presented by those task forces. We are not going 
to prosecute our way out of that problem. That is, number one, a 
prevention job. We are there as the backstop to prosecute people 
who distribute and who are bringing the poison into Indian coun-
try. I am happy with that cooperative effort. 

Senator TESTER. It is a huge scourge on our society, but I think 
its impacts on Indian country are even more [inaudible] You are 
right. It is going to take a multi-pronged approach. 

Unfortunately, over the past [inaudible], you have been in the 
press dealing with the Department of Justice with the U.S. Attor-
neys. I think there were some e-mails released by the Department 
of Justice that showed you were intimately involved in an effort to 
push out U.S. attorneys that were very capable. 

My question is real straightforward. If there is a committee that 
asks you to come forth in Montana, are you willing just to come 
forth and do it in the light of day with transparency so we can find 
out your side of the story, without Fifth Amendments and that 
kind of stuff? 

Mr. MERCER. Yes. 
Senator TESTER. Thank you. 
A question for Mr. Bickerman. Mr. Bickerman, you said that, the 

[inaudible] has a very good question from Senator Thomas on the 
$7 billion to $9 billion for individual claims only. You said the trib-
al claims were not involved in that $7 billion to $9 billion. Is there 
any estimate work being done on what that might cost? 

Mr. BICKERMAN. On tribal claims? No, sir. 
Senator TESTER. None. No idea what it is? 
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Mr. BICKERMAN. Not by me, sir. 
Senator TESTER. Okay. The other question is that you said the 

groups got together and you couldn’t get them together. Let me get 
the exact words. There was an opportunity to get the parties to-
gether because you thought you had an agreement, and you 
couldn’t get them in the same room to agree on much, and so it 
fell apart. Why? Was it money? Was it some of the other factors—
self determination, control? Or was it that it didn’t address the 
tribal? Was it all of the above? Was it lack of respect? What was 
it? 

Mr. BICKERMAN. Judge Renfrew and I tried assiduously to iden-
tify issues and work with the parties. We have never, and both of 
us have mediated a long time, and Judge Renfrew truly regrets 
that he couldn’t be here today. But we had never seen a more emo-
tional, acrimonious dispute as we saw here. It was impossible to 
get the parties to sit in the same room and negotiate. 

As a result, we tried different ideas, but we never got a lot done. 
Senator TESTER. Did you or [inaudible], I can’t remember which, 

but [inaudible] that talked about a claimed dismissal of $100 bil-
lion? Which one of you said that? Was that you, Bill? 

Mr. MERCER. Yes. 
Senator TESTER. When was that dismissed and by whom? 
Mr. MERCER. I don’t have a date. We can certainly get it for you. 
Senator TESTER. About [inaudible] Spring of whatever, month? 
Mr. MERCER. Evidently in the past couple of years. 
Senator TESTER. In the past couple of years. 
Mr. MERCER. I understand the past couple of years. 
Senator TESTER. Okay. If we could get data on that. And who 

dismissed it? 
Mr. MERCER. I don’t know. We will get that to you, too. 
Senator TESTER. Okay. Great. Thank you very much. 
And thank you, panelists for coming and being so patient. I real-

ly appreciate that. 
The CHAIRMAN. Let me thank the panel for being here. We ap-

preciate your willingness to come and testify. 
Mr. Cason, you have not had to participate orally, but we know 

that questions we will send will have your active participation on 
responses. 

Mr. CASON. I have had my opportunities before. [Laughter.] 
The CHAIRMAN. And if this ever gets settled, you won’t have to 

come to these hearings in the future. 
Mr. CASON. That would be great. 
The CHAIRMAN. We thank all three witnesses. 
I would like to invite the final panelists to come forward. Elouise 

Cobell is the lead plaintiff in Cobell v. Kempthorne. Elouise Cobell 
is from Browning, MT. She will be accompanied by Keith Harper, 
who is a partner in Kilpatrick Stockton, LLP, in Washington, DC. 

John Echohawk is the executive director of the Native American 
Rights Fund in Boulder, CO. 

William Martin is vice chairman, InterTribal Monitoring Associa-
tion on Indian Trust Funds in Albuquerque, NM. He is also first 
vice president of Central Council of the Tlingit and Haida Indian 
Tribes of Alaska. 
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Let me thank all of you for being with us today, and for your pa-
tience as well. 

Ms. Cobell, as I have indicated to others and I will to this panel, 
we regret the delay today, but it was not to be helped because of 
the votes in the Senate. 

I will ask that you proceed with your entire statements being 
made a part of the record. You may summarize as you choose. 

Let me begin with you, Elouise Cobell. 

STATEMENT OF ELOUISE COBELL, LEAD PLAINTIFF IN COBELL v. 
KEMPTHORNE, ACCOMPANIED BY KEITH HARPER, PARTNER, KIL-
PATRICK STOCKTON, LLP; AND JAMES OTIS KENNERLY, Jr., 
INDIVIDUAL INDIAN TRUST ACCOUNT HOLDER 

Ms. COBELL. Thank you, Chairman Dorgan and thank you Vice 
Chairman Thomas and thank you, Senator Tester. 

I would like to thank you for inviting me here today to provide 
the testimony to the committee in the most critical of issues: Bring-
ing justice to 500,000 individual Indians by resolving fairly the In-
dividual Indian Trust Fund lawsuit, Cobell v. Kempthorne.

Mr. Chairman, I will admit that I am frustrated. Year after year, 
I have been asked by this committee and the Natural Resources 
Committee in the House to testify. Year after year, I do so, hoping 
that this will be the time when a fair resolution is reached and 
that the fraud and corruption regarding the management of indi-
vidual Indian trust assets will end. 

People often speak about the cost of the mismanagement in mon-
etary terms. But as the Court of Appeals has reminded us, this 
case is not solely about money, but help and the very existence for 
the many individual Indian beneficiaries that rely on the funds for 
their daily existence. 

Here in Washington, DC, it is a bit easier to overlook the real-
life consequences of the Department of the Interior’s breaches of 
trust. With me today is such an individual Indian beneficiary. He 
is a friend and a Blackfeet Indian from my reservation, James 
Kennerly, Jr. James is the son of James Otis Kennerly, or as the 
Department of the Interior referred to him as ‘‘allottee 1997.’’ Like 
prisoners, Government officials often refer to us, to our people, by 
their number. 

James Otis Kennerly, Sr., was a World War I veteran and dis-
abled in combat fighting for this Nation. He was allotted trust land 
back in 1907, and it included considerable oil and gas resources in 
the Cutbank, a resource-rich area of the Blackfeet Reservation. 
Today, his son owns this land with his siblings. 

As early as 1930, and most likely much earlier, oil companies 
pumped thousands of barrels a week off Kennerly’s land. This is 
documented in records by the Department of the Interior’s own ex-
perts. Documents established that payments were made to the De-
partment of the Interior, in connection with the leasing of 
Kennerly’s allotment. 

However, according to the Department of the Interior’s own his-
torians, after 1946, there were no documents regarding the lease 
of his land, no statements, no deposits, and no files. And there was 
no money deposited into his account. 
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So what happened? There is no doubt that the oil wells continued 
to pump on the land of James Otis Kennerly. You can see it for 
yourself. He would take you out there today, tomorrow. Yet, after 
the 1930’s, James, Sr., did not receive any payments. That con-
tinues to be the situation today with James, Jr. And every call or 
visit to the Department of the Interior, he recounts hundreds of 
visits, ends in the same way: We can’t give you an explanation. 

Department of the Interior’s historians now speculate that his 
lease was unlawfully unitized with other lands of the Blackfeet 
Tribe and that the tribe now receives all of his moneys, but they 
don’t really know, despite hundreds of hours of looking at his docu-
ments. This is all in a report these historians submitted in the 
court case of Cobell.

What are the consequences to the Kennerlys of this theft? For 
James, Sr., a disabled vet unable to work, it meant that he lived 
in abject poverty the remainder of his life, as he was not provided 
his VA benefits either. This poverty contributed to declining health, 
and he passed away in the 1940’s. 

Of course, with no money, he could not afford to take care of his 
children during his lifetime. So his son, James, Jr., here with us 
today, was raised in an orphanage. After that, he was sent to Gov-
ernment boarding schools, with all of the incumbent problems of 
that system that we in Indian country are all too familiar with. 

He and his siblings share James, Sr.’s land now, but they do not 
receive any money from the oil that still comes from that land. 
James, Jr., has had more than his share of hardship. I can person-
ally attest, based on the decades of long friendship, that he has led 
an impoverished existence. The Government’s theft of his trust 
funds did not on its own bankrupt James Kennerly, Jr., but it cer-
tainly eliminated any options for improving his situation. It robbed 
him of his health and education and opportunity, and the abuse 
continues today. 

He should be a millionaire, but like his father, he lives in great 
poverty. In many ways, the broken trust has robbed him of his life, 
and the pain it causes continues every day. 

This is not an isolated tragedy. James Kennerly, Jr., is not alone. 
Indeed, there are hundreds of James Kennerlys on every Indian 
reservation. They, too, have been robbed of health, education, and 
opportunities, and the abuse continues today. They, too, like Mr. 
Kennerly, pay the price for a failure to resolve this matter. 

Understand, Senators, that this is a life and death situation. It 
is for these Americans that we must try and forge a resolution. Let 
us end the malfeasance and the suffering. The time is to act, for 
now, for all the James Kennerlys across Indian country. 

The $7 billion is insufficient to settle the Cobell case standing 
alone, particularly since the proposal contemplates paying this 
money over 10 years. Given the time value of money, this means 
that the actual figure is much lower, and the Government’s own ex-
perts put their liabilities between $10 billion to $40 billion. 

Of course, they do not seek to settle just the Cobell case with this 
$7 billion proposal. The Government proposes to use the $7 billion 
to buy much, much more, including paying for a multi-billion dollar 
debacle called fractionation, extinguishing all past, present and fu-
ture, and indeed future trust claims against individual Indians for 
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mismanagement, claims that go far beyond the Cobell case, paying 
for trust reform, paying for information technology security, and re-
dressing all tribal trust claims, which Mr. Gonzales has conceded 
is $200 billion standing alone. 

If that were not enough, the Government proposes to end all fu-
ture liability. That means irrespective of how blatant and how sig-
nificant future breaches are, the Government cannot be sued. This 
is in no uncertain terms a license to steal provided to an entity, 
the Department of the Interior, which has demonstrated itself to be 
dishonest. This is not an offer. Instead, it is a slap in the face for 
every individual Indian trust beneficiary. 

Now, I am here reacting to the Government’s first call settlement 
proposal. I guess I should be happy that after 11 years of litigation, 
they have actually put some kind of an offer on the table, but the 
proposal of Secretary Kempthorne and Attorney General Gonzales 
is so absurd that it cannot really be called a settlement offer. 

I want to conclude to talk just briefly about where do we go next. 
What for Congress? What is it that you can do? There is a way to 
proceed. You can compare a bill that puts forward a reasonable set-
tlement. This proposal should not seek to address every issue in 
the sun in Indian country. Instead, it should address the matter 
that has brought us all to this point: The Cobell historical account-
ing and restatement of claims, and their underlying malfeasance 
that Cobell seeks to redress. 

That is where we begin. We cannot begin with an unfair, unjust, 
insulting proposal that the Department of Interior and the Depart-
ment of Justice have brought forward. We need to begin with a so-
lution that is fair. 

Thank you very much. 
[Prepared statement of Ms. Cobell appears in appendix.] 
The CHAIRMAN. Ms. Cobell, thank you very much. We appreciate 

your testimony. As always, it is very direct. 
John Echohawk, executive director of the Native American 

Rights Fund, Boulder, CO. Mr. Echohawk, welcome. You may pro-
ceed, and your entire statement will be made a part of the record, 
and we would ask you to summarize. 

STATEMENT OF JOHN ECHOHAWK, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, 
NATIVE AMERICAN RIGHTS FUND 

Mr. ECHOHAWK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Although the Native American Rights Fund is part of the Cobell 

legal team for the last 11 years, I am here today on behalf of 15 
tribes that the Native American Rights Fund represents in tribal 
trust fund litigation, plus possibly 220 more tribes if the Federal 
District Court in Washington, DC certifies one of those cases as a 
class action. 

I would like to make three points briefly for the committee this 
morning. One is just to educate them about the status of tribal 
trust cases. There are currently 108 of those cases pending in ei-
ther Federal District Courts or the Court of Federal Claims. They 
are on behalf of 69 tribes, and again, if some of these cases are cer-
tified as class action cases, that number could go up to 285 tribes. 

Over 70 of these cases were newly filed because of the December 
31 deadline that existed for tribes to challenge these Arthur Ander-
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sen reconciliation reports that were given to the tribes in 1996. I 
submit that there is a financial crisis in Indian country with all of 
these tribal cases on the table now, together with the Cobell case 
and the individual claims. I think it is in the magnitude of the 
range for action that the Congress provided back during the sav-
ings and loan scandal, and the bailout that Congress provided for 
that. 

I submit, too, it is in the magnitude of this mortgage crisis that 
the Nation faces now and Congress is thinking about a bailout 
there as well. I think that we need a bailout here in the Indian 
trust fund mess as well. 

As we have talked about in the hearing today, Attorney General 
Alberto Gonzales had talked about the Government’s liability being 
potentially $200 billion. For the record, I just want to read into the 
record his exact words during that testimony. He said, ‘‘The United 
States’ potential exposure in these cases is more than $200 billion.’’ 
That is his exact language. 

The second point I would like to make to the Committee is that 
this proposal by the Administration is unacceptable to our tribal 
clients. As has been discussed, there was no tribal consultation 
with tribes on this proposal to include their tribal claims in this 
proposal. It is arbitrary. There has been no valuation, no analysis 
of these tribal claims. As we have discussed as well, there are ob-
jections to the fact that there is no future Federal liability for the 
administration of what would be left of the trust. More than that, 
there would be the termination of this historical trust. Anyone fa-
miliar with Indian country knows how important the trust respon-
sibility is to tribes. 

I think at a minimum we need to talk about separating out con-
sideration of the tribal claims from the Cobell settlement and all 
of these various proposals that are included within this settlement 
offered from the Administration. We have to keep tribal claims sep-
arate. 

And finally, I want to suggest to the committee that it may be 
possible to fashion some legislative proposals for settlement of 
some of these tribal claims. I would submit to the Committee that 
that would be worth exploring. I think that exploration would have 
to protect the prerogative of tribes to pursue their tribal trust 
claims in whatever form or through whatever avenues they pursue 
to resolve those claims. Any settlement proposal must certainly be 
voluntary and not be forced on tribes. 

I do think that with all of these claims potentially on the table, 
that it is certainly worth the time of the committee to explore a 
possible legislative solution for at least some of those tribal claims. 

[Prepared statement of Mr. Echohawk appears in appendix.] 
The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Echohawk, thank you very much for being 

with us. 
William Martin is vice chairman of the InterTribal Monitoring 

Association on Indian Trust Funds in Albuquerque, NM. Mr. Mar-
tin, welcome and you may summarize. 
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STATEMENT OF WILLIAM MARTIN, VICE CHAIRMAN, INTER-
TRIBAL MONITORING ASSOCIATION ON INDIAN TRUST 
FUNDS, AND FIRST VICE PRESIDENT, CENTRAL COUNCIL OF 
THE TLINGIT AND HAIDA INDIAN TRIBES OF ALASKA 
Mr. MARTIN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Mr. Tester. 
My name is William Martin. I am first vice president of the 

Tlingit and Haida Indian Tribes of Alaska. I also serve on the 
board of directors for the InterTribal Monitoring Association on In-
dian Trust Funds. 

I am pleased to appear today to present ITMA’s views regarding 
the Administration proposal. 

The Administration proposes a single initiative to address the 
Cobell litigation, pending tribal lawsuits, and the continuing frac-
tionation of Indian land ownership. The proposal would also elimi-
nate Government liability for future trust administration. ITMA 
does not regard this as trust reform, but rather as a proposal for 
termination or buy-out of the trust responsibility. 

With respect to tribal lawsuits, more than 100 are currently 
pending against the Government. Some of these have been in 
courts for almost 30 years. Scores of them were filed as recently as 
December 2006, however, purely as a protection against the possi-
bility that they would thereafter be barred by the statute of limita-
tions. Others involve such diverse issues as range management and 
uranium processing. 

In other words, these tribal cases are emphatically not all alike. 
With regard to land consolidation, reducing the number of In-

dian-owned interests in trust lands is a centerpiece of the Adminis-
tration’s proposal. The tribes and the Government might find some 
common ground in addressing this issue, but not if the Government 
insists on driving a wedge between the tribes and their members 
on constitutionally protected property rights. 

Based on these observations, ITMA offers the following rec-
ommendations. Regarding the Cobell litigation, 1 year ago this 
committee held an important joint hearing with the House on simi-
lar cases where lawsuits succeeded in bringing historic wrongs to 
the public’s attention. That discussion, in which Chairman Dorgan 
was a very active participant, might be a helpful starting point for 
the committee’s consideration of any role it might play in bringing 
about a resolution of the Cobell litigation. 

The Administration’s proposal to settle these claims or restruc-
ture trust responsibility for up to $7 billion is illusory at best [in-
audible]. 

Finally, we do not believe there is any support for combining the 
settlement of Cobell with the settlement of tribal claims, but we be-
lieve there is a strong interest in taking affirmative steps to facili-
tate and encourage a settlement of the tribal claims. 

ITMA would like to propose certain affirmative steps that Con-
gress can take to encourage settlement of the tribal claims. These 
would allow more Indian tribes to postpone the filing of additional 
lawsuits, result in voluntary dismissal of a number of tribal law-
suits, and create a process for resolving many tribal claims without 
litigation. 

We do not think that tribal claims should compete for a settle-
ment pot. The principle in that is any number should be the result 
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of deliberations, not legal. Congress should first break apart the 
issues into manageable-size pieces, starting with the Cobell litiga-
tion. If Congress chooses to wade into the fray, it should deal with 
its resolution separately. 

Regarding land consolidation, Congress should consider following 
up on the successes of its voluntary purchase program of recent 
years. This program should be greatly expanded and the Govern-
ment should look to the tribes themselves for approaches that will 
work on a tribe by tribe basis and will not diminish human service 
programs in order to ameliorate a bureaucratic problem of the Gov-
ernment’s own making. 

Regarding tribal litigation and settlement alternatives, first, the 
committee should not do anything pending the Arthur Andersen 
Act providing tribes with the opportunity to delay the filing of addi-
tional lawsuits, until a lot of these tribes have [inaudible] agree-
ments to dismiss these lawsuits. 

Second, Congress should authorize tribal trust fund settlements 
outside of litigation and provide authorization to access the U.S. 
Judgment Fund for payment of such settlements. In cooperation 
with the Department of the Interior, ITMA has been engaged in de-
veloping and implementing a tribal trust funds settlement project 
to develop a methodology by which the Government and non-liti-
gating tribes could assess and negotiate resolution of tribes’ fiscal 
claims against the Government. 

Both parties have expressed hope that, if a resolution of fiscal 
claims could be reached on the basis of an intellectually rigorous 
methodology applied to empirical data, then even broader settle-
ments as well might be within reach. Both ITMA and the Govern-
ment look forward to continuing to develop a settlement method-
ology contemplated by the tribal trust fund settlement project. 

In order to avoid setting up a system that results in the raiding 
of existing tribal programs for payment of these settlements, ITMA 
strongly believes that Congress must authorize payment of these 
settlements through the U.S. Judgment Fund, with a directive that 
any replenishment to the Fund not be charged to or otherwise off-
set by existing or future appropriated or budgeted funds for Indian 
programs. 

The committee should begin dialog between interested Indian 
tribes and the Administration to authorize a voluntary settlement 
procedure for those Indian tribes that wish to take advantage of 
such an opportunity. Such efforts should recognize that every In-
dian tribe should have the opportunity to brings its claim in the 
court or courts of its choice, but that many Indian tribes would 
probably prefer a more expedient and certain claim settlement 
process. 

On a related issue, ITMA reiterates its position in regard to the 
DOI proposal, regulatory initiative part 112, Tribal Trust Fund Ac-
counting and Appeals. ITMA objects to the rule and has requested 
the Administration withdraw the draft regulation. The rule would 
greatly diminish the ability of Indian tribes to access Federal 
courts with regard to Federal management and administration of 
tribal trust fund accounts. ITMA questions whether DOI has the 
authority to unilate-rally through an administrative rule under-
mine the Indian Tucker Act. 
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ITMA also recommends that Congress eliminate administrative 
fees on Indian trust transactions. 

In closing, Mr. Chairman, ITMA is eager to work with this com-
mittee in a new Congress to bring a new sense of trust to the In-
dian trust, and bring an end to a period of contentious litigation; 
and to bring honorable resolution to claims too long evaded. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
[Prepared statement of Mr. Martin appears in appendix.] 
The CHAIRMAN. Mr. Martin, thank you very much. 
Ms. Cobell, you referred to Mr. Kennerly in your testimony. Did 

you indicate he is with us? 
Ms. COBELL. Yes;, he is. 
The CHAIRMAN. Could you identify him? You are Mr. Kennerly? 

And do you still own the land that was previously owned in the 
family on which oil and gas was produced? Is that correct? 

Mr. KENNERLY. Yes. 
The CHAIRMAN. Is there currently oil production on that land? 
Mr. KENNERLY. Yes there is. 
The CHAIRMAN. Are you receiving any benefits from that oil pro-

duction? 
Mr. KENNERLY. [Remark made off microphone.] 
The CHAIRMAN. Thank you for being with us today. 
Mr. KENNERLY. Thank you. 
The CHAIRMAN. I think, Ms. Cobell, your story is compelling. We 

always deal in the aggregate with large numbers, but actually 
these accounts are all accounts that deal with real human beings 
who have ownership, and have an expectation that the trust re-
sponsibility is being met. I thought I heard you say that he was 
in the audience. I appreciate your identifying yourself. 

Well, Elouise Cobell, you have, as I indicated, been very direct 
with the committee, once again. You say you are frustrated. You 
are not the only one that is frustrated. That is not a condition that 
inures exclusively to yourself. I am frustrated. I think that a lot of 
people are very frustrated by this situation. 

I feel that if something isn’t done, this will go on at least for 1 
decade and perhaps more. But what I want to ask you about is 
this. There are areas of liability, one of which is represented by you 
as a plaintiff, and the case that has now been I guess in the courts 
for 12 or 13 years. That is the individual Indian trust accounts case 
and the claims of irresponsible treatment of those accounts and 
those claims encompass a lot of things. 

Second, there are the issues raised in the tribal claims that are 
now being filed and have been filed, last year especially. 

Third, there is the other issue with respect to individual land 
mismanagement claims. That is separate and apart from the trust 
accounting claims. 

Let me ask you, with respect to the individuals. Now, set aside 
tribal claims for a moment. Individuals, their trust accounts and 
the land management claims, do you feel like there is a capability 
of merging those two, at least as the Cobell case is settled with re-
spect to the trust accounts, that there could also be some settle-
ment with respect to land management claims? 

Ms. COBELL. I think that we are dealing with just the money in 
the Cobell case, the mismanagement of money. And we have never 
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in fact, as the Department of the Interior reminds us all the time, 
is the damage to the trust assets are not part of our case. What 
we have talked about is the fact that trust asset claims could be 
included if there was an amount of money set aside and that Cobell 
plaintiffs could opt out and take on the other Indian trust assets, 
put claims on the trust asset damages that they have received, be-
cause our case is not about the damages. So that is one idea. 

But to lump them together, I don’t think that we can do that. We 
have to take into consideration that that is a separate issue on the 
damages. 

The CHAIRMAN. I understand your point. You understand that 
those of us who represent all of the taxpayers in this country and 
are trying to figure out what the potential liability is here, and in-
deed there is a liability. I think the last thing anyone wants is to 
have settlement after settlement after settlement, and then there 
is the next claim. 

My personal feeling is I don’t think tribal claims have any role 
to play here at all. I think they are different. I was asking the rep-
resentative of the Justice Department those questions, and he fi-
nally admitted they are distinct and different and should not be re-
lated. 

There is, it seems to me, a relationship with respect to the indi-
vidual claims, both with respect to the trust fund accounts, which 
is about money, but also the management of the assets. At least 
some here in Congress would say, wait a second, you are going to 
settle this and the management of the assets is not part of the set-
tlement? So then we are right back into the same issue, and you 
will have filings on behalf of class actions, and we will be right 
back in the same situation as we are now. 

I want you to understand. That is why some would believe there 
should be some connection between the money accounts and also 
the land management with respect to individuals. 

Ms. COBELL. The problem that I have is that I don’t represent 
those individuals on these issues. Our lawsuit has been con-
centrated on the mismanagement of the money, the money that 
came in, and it is very difficult for me to answer that question. You 
know, I certainly think that the solution that I gave you a little bit 
earlier if the settlement amount was substantial, it would give an 
opportunity to have individual Indians opt out of our lawsuit and 
take on the claims that they feel has been mismanaged on the land 
assets. But that has to be substantial. 

The figures that we have come up with and the $10 billion to $40 
billion that the Government’s experts have come up with, all have 
been related to the money that went into these accounts. 

The CHAIRMAN. What do you say to the statement by the medi-
ator this morning that with respect to the individual trust ac-
counts, he thought $7 billion to $9 billion was a range that was 
plausible? 

Ms. COBELL. Versus to the $10 billion to $40 billion that the Gov-
ernment experts have come up with? 

The CHAIRMAN. I am asking you not about that. I am asking you 
about the testimony this morning by the person who had been in-
volved in the mediation. 
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Ms. COBELL. I think that I felt good about the fact that Mr. 
Bickerman separated the tribal from the individuals, and he said 
he would at least take $7 billion to $9 billion to settle Cobell alone. 

The CHAIRMAN. How do you feel about that statement? 
Ms. COBELL. I think that is a very good statement. Is that what 

we would settle for? Is that the real question? I would like an op-
portunity to talk about it and visit with you about it a little bit 
more. I think that we all understand that we are never going to 
get what is owed us as individual Indians. 

The amount is surmountable, and every time the report that I 
just explained, Mr. Kennerly’s case is very crucial because that 
would never have been found by Mr. Bickerman, anybody. It just 
happened the Government hired some experts to take a look at the 
accounts and they pulled out Mr. Kennerly’s account to take a 
view, and all the documents were missing. They found out where 
the pump was pumping, and the oil money was being transferred 
from USGS and illegally unitized with the tribal lease and the 
money didn’t come to Mr. Kennerly. 

Those things will never be found. And so to say, as Mr. 
Bickerman did, right on $7 billion to $9 billion, at least he is get-
ting in the ballpark. 

The CHAIRMAN. And those records would not be included in a 
part of the discussion the Secretary mentioned, and also the Jus-
tice Department mentioned this morning, because what they de-
scribed were records that were from 1985 forward. You are describ-
ing a circumstance where you can’t find records dating back to the 
early 1900’s for Mr. Kennerly’s father. 

I am tempted to ask Mr. Cason, but I will not do that. I will ask 
him some questions about these kinds of things in writing, not 
about the individual accounts, but the likelihood of the error rate 
being very substantial when you start going back to the 1930’s, the 
1910’s, the 1890’s. 

The photograph I showed, I showed for a reason today. I think 
what was going on there was almost criminal. Whoever was re-
sponsible for keeping those records on behalf of the Indians and 
maintaining the accounts and being honest with the people who 
owned these assets, that kind of record keeping was almost crimi-
nal. No one is going to sort through those bags and boxes in that 
old building and come up with the right set of records. 

That describes, I think, the concern that there is substantial li-
ability by the Government. The question is what is it, and how is 
it resolved. 

I promised that this committee will provide transparency, and 
part of that is open hearings where we will hear from witnesses 
and try to evaluate what can we do to try to resolve this. Some 
have asked me, why on earth are you involved in this? Why not 
let the courts decide whatever they decide? Well, we are involved 
as a committee because we have been asked to be involved by the 
parties, number one. 

And number two, if this languishes another 5 years, 10, or 15 
years, the consequences of that are very significant and very detri-
mental, in my judgment, to all of the things that we care about on 
this committee with respect to our trust responsibilities for Amer-
ican Indians. So that is why we are involved. 
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Will we be able to participate in resolving this? I don’t know the 
answer to that, but I am determined, I continue to be determined 
to try. And this hearing I wanted to hold today to develop some ad-
ditional information and get some additional thoughts on the 
record. And then from this hearing, Senator Thomas, I and others 
will be discussing the next steps. 

The three of you have presented I think thoughtful testimony 
with respect to your perspective about how we might proceed. I 
know all of you have come a long distance, Albuquerque, Denver, 
Boulder, and Montana. So I appreciate very much your being here 
today to help us try to think through this and give us your testi-
mony. 

I am going to call on Senator Tester for any comments and ques-
tions he has. 

Senator TESTER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I think your com-
ment about openness and transparency in Government is probably 
one of the reasons why we are here. So I appreciate your perspec-
tive on that. 

I have to ask. I wasn’t going to, and then it came up again and 
so now I have to ask it. When you are getting $70 a month, this 
is the fellow that didn’t testify, that is in the audience, James, you 
are getting $70 a month. Where is the rest of the money going, to 
whom? 

Mr. KENNERLY. The BIA. 
Senator TESTER. The BIA? All right. 
Well, the hearing has gone on for quite a while. There have been 

a lot of good questions asked, and there has been a lot of good testi-
mony given. I want to echo the Chairman’s comments about ex-
pressing my appreciation for you to be here. 

I am just going to ask one question, and you all three can answer 
it, or one of you can answer it if that is adequate. I will direct it 
to Elouise to begin with. 

Elouise, you have been at this for 11 years. What is the key? 
What are the keys to bringing this to a conclusion so you can find 
a solution that is equitable for the folks that are involved? 

Ms. COBELL. I think that there are two things. We have to figure 
out the historical wrong, the historical accounting that we can set-
tle. But going forward, we are going to have to really, really think 
about how we are going to have trust reform that will probably be 
done. And I am going to tell you right now, the Department of the 
Interior is not capable of managing our assets. They are not. They 
have proven it over the 100 years. We have zillions of reports that 
have been filed with this committee, and the Department of the In-
terior is not capable. 

And so we need to look at ways that we move forward in the fu-
ture, and I think that we need to take them out of the trust busi-
ness. Let’s look at something totally different. Let’s look at a re-
ceiver. What is wrong, I mean, with this horrible, horrible mis-
management that has been going on for hundreds of years. Senator 
Dorgan, you have done a great job in recapping it. 

Will we ever get to the bottom of all this corruption? I don’t think 
we will until we move it out and we like moving it out to a receiver 
and start over. That is what big financial institutions do when 
there are huge problems. They move it out. They put the people on 

VerDate 0ct 09 2002 12:57 Jul 23, 2007 Jkt 034405 PO 00000 Frm 00037 Fmt 6633 Sfmt 6633 S:\DOCS\34405.TXT JACKF PsN: JACK



34

the bench and look at and move to a fresh way of correcting histor-
ical problems. 

So that is, I know, a long answer, but I needed to tell you how 
I felt. 

Senator TESTER. Would anybody else like to respond to that? No-
body disagrees? Then that is fine. 

The issue about parties not being able to get together. I asked 
why that was to the gentleman who was sitting over here in the 
first panel, why that was the case. From your perspective, why is 
that the case? 

Ms. COBELL. Because this is the first proposal that the Govern-
ment has ever brought forward. They have never, and I think Mr. 
Bickerman said that, they have never put anything on the table for 
us to respond to. We have put proposals on the table that the Gov-
ernment would not respond to. So we have always been ready to 
sit down and negotiate. 

Senator TESTER. Good. So you actually see the direction that 
even though there is some question of whether the offer was ade-
quate or fair, you do see it as a step in the right direction, and 
there is some progress here after 11 years, but we have more to 
do. Right? 

Ms. COBELL. I guess I do see at least the fact that there is a pro-
posal on the table, but it is a horrible proposal. I just want to make 
sure that you understand that I don’t endorse that proposal. 

The CHAIRMAN. Ms. Cobell, it appears to me you have called it 
an insult, but positive. So it is a positive insult. [Laughter.] 

Ms. COBELL. See? I knew I would get trapped. 
The CHAIRMAN. I don’t expect you to answer that, and I don’t 

mean to make light of any of this. This is very serious business. 
Let me on behalf of Senator Thomas and myself say that both 

of us appreciate that Senator Tester has joined us on this com-
mittee, and has expressed a real significant interest in trying to 
help. It takes a lot of effort on this committee to be active and in-
volved and to really dig into some of these things. I think, Senator 
Tester, we very much appreciate your involvement, both Senator 
Thomas and myself. 

We are going to keep the record open for 2 weeks. We would in-
vite any other submissions for the record to this hearing. We will 
then, Senator Thomas, myself and other members of the com-
mittee, we will then convene and begin some discussions about 
what the next steps might be. 

I say to all of you who gathered, that this has been an exception-
ally busy morning here in the Senate, which explains the absence 
of many of our colleagues. We have many other committee hearings 
being completed today because this will be the last day, really, for 
any Senate business prior to next week in which the Senate will 
be in recess. So as a result, Senator Thomas and myself and Sen-
ator Tester wanted to proceed with the hearing even though we 
had the disruption of votes. 

Mr. Kennerly, thank you for traveling all the way to Washington, 
DC to be a part of this testimony. 

Ms. Cobell, Mr. Echohawk, Mr. Martin, thank you very much. 
We appreciate very much the attendance of those who have come. 

This hearing is adjourned. 
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[Whereupon, at 12:25 p.m., the committee was adjourned.] 
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A P P E N D I X 

ADDITIONAL MATERIAL SUBMITTED FOR THE RECORD 

PREPARED STATEMENT OF HON. CRAIG THOMAS, U.S. SENATOR FROM WYOMING, VICE 
CHAIRMAN, COMMITTEE ON INDIAN AFFAIRS 

Good morning, and thank you Chairman Dorgan for holding this important hear-
ing today. 

Earlier this month I received the letter dated March 1 2007, and signed by both 
Secretary Kempthorne and Attorney General Gonzales regarding the Administra-
tion’s proposal for resolving Indian trust litigation and reforming the trust asset 
management system. 

The problems relating to the management of individual Indian and tribal trust 
lands, resources and funds have been present for over 100 years. Many if not most 
of the laws creating the current system for trust land and resource management 
were enacted many decades ago, some over 100 years ago. One can only wonder 
whether modern, 21st Century land and resource use transactions are compatible 
with a management system created for an earlier time. 

The Administration’s proposal is ambitious, if nothing else, and I do appreciate 
that we have Secretary Kempthorne and Mr. Mercer from the Department of Justice 
with us today to discuss the proposal further. I am also very interested in hearing 
from the representatives of the plaintiffs and the tribes, and from the two mediators 
who worked to resolve the Cobell case during the 108th and 109th Congress. In the 
months ahead I am sure we will be hearing from other voices in Indian country 
about the trust litigation and trust reform as well. 

It is clear from the testimony of the non-Federal witnesses and from some feed-
back we have already gotten back from the tribes and other stakeholders that the 
Administration’s proposal has some strong critics in Indian country. Nevertheless, 
it is a serious proposal involving a lot of money, and I look at it as an excellent 
opportunity to begin the settlement dialog yet again. I would like my staff to work 
with yours, Chairman Dorgan, to see whether we can come up with some acceptable 
solutions to these problems, which have been around far too long. 

I thank all of the witnesses for attending the hearing to provide their views on 
the proposals and look forward to their testimony. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

PREPARED STATEMENT OF ERNEST L. STENSGAR, PRESIDENT, AFFILIATED TRIBES OF 
NORTHWEST INDIANS 

Good morning Chairman Dorgan, Vice Chairman Thomas, and distinguished 
members of the committee. My name is Ernest Stensgar and I am the president of 
the Affiliated Tribes of Northwest Indians [ATNI]. Today, I am pleased to provide 
ATNI’s views on the Administration’s proposed legislative settlement as set forth in 
the March 1, 2007 letter from Interior Secretary Kempthorne and Attorney General 
Gonzales to the chairmen of the respective committees of jurisdiction. I am also 
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pleased to provide ATNI’s views on how the committee can continue to pursue trust 
reform in the 110th Congress and our thoughts on the pending tribal trust lawsuits. 

BACKGROUND ON ATNI’S TRUST REFORM EFFORTS 

Founded in 1953, ATNI represents 57 tribal governments from Oregon, Idaho, 
Washington, southeast Alaska, northern California, and western Montana. As the 
committee is aware, ATNI and its member tribes in the Pacific Northwest have been 
outspoken supporters of a legislative settlement to the Cobell litigation and 
forwardlooking trust reform, and invested substantial time and resources in the 
109th Congress securing tribal support for S. 1439. 

ATNI’s support for trust reform legislation has been and is grounded in the nega-
tive impact the Department of the Interior’s [Department’s] response to the Cobell 
litigation has had on our member tribes’ day-to-day business. Problems associated 
with the Department’s current trust policies continue to negatively impact non-trust 
issues on our member tribes’ reservations, such as economic and social development 
within our communities. Our support for trust reform legislation is also grounded 
in our desire to reign in what has been the unchecked growth of the Office of the 
Special Trustee [OST]. 

THE ADMINISTRATION’S $7 BILLION PROPOSAL 

ATNI understands that what this Administration ultimately demands for a multi-
billion dollar settlement of the Cobell litigation may never be acceptable to ATNI 
or to Indian country under any circumstances. The Administration’s March 1 letter 
essentially attaches a $7-billion figure to the package of concepts that was dissemi-
nated late last year in the form of a 2-page paper. As the committee will recall, that 
2-page concept paper was—as a single, complete proposal—rejected by ATNI and In-
dian country as a whole. Like that concept paper, the theme behind the Administra-
tion’s $7 billion dollar proposal is for the United States to phaseout the trust rela-
tionship with Indians and ultimately ‘‘get out of the Indian business’’ entirely. For 
ATNI, this is simply a non-starter. Even assuming that the March 1 letter allows 
some room for negotiation, the breadth of the Administration’s demands now makes 
clear that a multi-billion dollar settlement of the Cobell litigation alone will not be 
possible during this Administration. 

On February 15, 2007, ATNI unanimously enacted a resolution at its Winter Ses-
sion in Portland, OR that supports the reintroduction of legislation with the key 
provisions that were included in S. 1439 in the 109th Congress—but without provi-
sions relating to settlement of the Cobell litigation. That resolution also advocated 
that any new legislation provide for new voluntary authority for tribal management 
of tribal trust lands and related assets as an amendment to the Indian Self-Deter-
mination and Education Assistance Act of 1975. 

The key trust reform concepts in S. 1439 that ATNI would like to see the com-
mittee pursue in the 110th Congress include the following: 

• Elimination of OST—ATNI strongly supports the elimination of OST and the 
merging of its functions back into the BIA. OST has grown exponentially since 
the mid-1990’s. This growth has adversely affected ATNI’s member tribes’ abil-
ity to carryout day-to-day business with the BIA and has resulted in the siphon-
ing of funds from programs that serve Indian people. 

• Land Consolidation—ATNI reaffirms its support for efforts to consolidate in-
dividual Indian trust lands and recognizes that a simple, aggressive land con-
solidation program must be implemented to reduce the costs of administration 
of fractionated lands. ATNI strongly disagrees with the Administration’s view 
that the consolidation of fractionated lands must necessarily include the termi-
nation of Federal responsibilities over individual Indians and tribes. However, 
ATNI agrees with a goal of consolidating allotments into a manageable number 
of owners. While a Secretary initiated sale may be appropriate for highly 
fractionated trust lands [that is, land with more than 100 owners], any sale of 
trust lands with a manageable number of owners should be initiated by one or 
more of the owners, not by the Secretary. 

• Beneficiary-Managed Trust—ATNI continues to oppose any proposal for a 
mandatory beneficiary-managed trust that would encompass unallotted tribal 
trust lands. The voluntary demonstration project set forth in title III of the last 
redraft of S. 1439, if adequately funded, provides, in ATNI’s view, an attractive 
incentive to encourage tribal management of tribal trust lands and resources. 
This type of tribal management regime would also encourage tribal economic 
development for those tribes that choose to participate by reducing the need for 
time consuming Federal approvals. 
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For individual Indian trust lands, ATNI agrees in principle with a program that 
would provide for a beneficiary-managed trust so long as the program maintains the 
Federal trust obligations to tribes and Indian people. Such a program, however, 
must in the first instance be voluntary and be adequately funded to ensure that 
beneficiaries are fully informed and equipped to manage their lands. ATNI also reaf-
firms its support for a related concept that would provide for a land exchange pro-
gram whereby interests in highly fractionated tracts would be transferred to—and 
the corresponding tract managed by—a separate, tribal-affiliated entity with a sepa-
rate board of directors. 

ATNI strongly opposes any attempt to arbitrarily and prospectively limit the li-
ability of the United States for mismanagement of trust resources. A ‘‘trust relation-
ship’’ as memorialized in Federal law includes the ability to seek redress against 
the trustee for breach. A ‘‘trust’’ relationship without this element is not a trust re-
lationship at all, but rather an entirely different relationship. ATNI supports, how-
ever, the voluntary authority of Indian tribes to manage their trust resources. 

SETTLEMENT OF TRIBAL TRUST CLAIMS 

ATNI strongly opposes the mandatory settlement of tribal trust-related claims in 
any legislation, whether or not part of a trust reform package or an appropriations 
bill. The filing of the 103 Federal court lawsuits that are currently pending is a fore-
seeable result of the Administration’s failure to support the extension of Public Law 
107–153, which provided that any reconciliation report received by an Indian tribe 
shall be deemed received by the tribe on December 31, 1999. Faced with the possi-
bility that a court could construe the Arthur Andersen reports to be an ‘‘accounting’’ 
for purposes of the 6 year statute of limitations, Indian tribes with potential trust 
claims had no other choice than to file lawsuits to preserve their rights. 

The pending tribal accounting and mismanagement lawsuits stand on their own 
merits, and each tribe’s trust accounts vary widely in terms of account activity and 
the underlying nature of the trust assets. These lawsuits therefore do not lend 
themselves to a mandatory, ‘‘one-size-fits all’’ settlement. However, ATNI supports 
legislation that would provide for a voluntary settlement regime of tribal trust 
claims for those tribes that do not wish to litigate or otherwise expend resources 
pursuing their claims. 

The Department has indicated that it intends to promulgate new regulations re-
lating to historical accounting of tribal trust funds. The most recent discussion draft 
of these regulations would establish an administrative process whereby the Depart-
ment would furnish statements of historical account to Indian tribes. If an Indian 
tribe does not object or otherwise respond to the statement furnished by the Depart-
ment, the tribe is deemed to have accepted the account balances set forth in the 
statement. 

ATNI understands that the Department my attempt to apply these regulations to 
those tribes that have already filed trust accounting lawsuits. The validity of such 
a post hoc administrative action to affect previously filed Federal court lawsuits is 
dubious at best. Nonetheless, ATNI asks that the committee monitor the Depart-
ment’s initiative closely to ensure that the Department is not allowed to use this 
rulemaking as a backdoor attempt to impose settlement on the pending tribal ac-
counting claims and divest tribes of their day in court. 

ATNI is grateful for the committee’s attention to trust reform in the 110th Con-
gress and has appreciated the consideration the committee has given to the pro-
posals and input offered by ATNI and its member tribes. ATNI looks forward to 
working with the committee in any way it can in addressing these issues. 
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